

**CONSTITUTION OF CYHOEDDI CYMRU**  
**(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)**

1. The name of the Organisation is Cyhoeddi Cymru / Publishing Wales.
2. Cyhoeddi Cymru Cyf is a company limited by guarantee, registered under the Companies Act 2006, company registered number 13229883. Trading as Cyhoeddi Cymru Publishing Wales.
3. The objects for which the company is established are:
  - a. To represent the interests of Welsh publishers as a bilingual membership organisation.
  - b. To promote and support publishing activities in Wales through the Welsh and English languages.
  - c. To act as a forum for education, training and the exchange of information concerning publishing and related issues
  - d. To promote research into, and the development of policies concerning issues affecting publishing.
  - e. To enter into contracts, arrangements and agreements concerning the business of the Organisation with individuals, companies, associations and bodies including governmental, statutory and local authorities, organisations and agencies.
  - f. To enter into any partnership, joint venture or international network, and to participate in the incorporation of any company or other association which is calculated to serve, directly or indirectly, the interests or purposes of Cyhoeddi Cymru.
  - g. To support and promote the objectives of Cyhoeddi Cymru by conferences, public or private meetings, seminars, workshops, publications, conducting surveys and studies, and by such other means as may be deemed necessary or desirable.
  - h. To acquire, develop and protect any copyrights, patents, trademarks and licences and any other form of intellectual property which may seem capable of being used to further the purposes of Cyhoeddi Cymru.
  - i. To defend and protect the property, interests and reputation of Cyhoeddi Cymru in all appropriate ways, including by the prosecution or defence of any legal proceedings.
  - j. From time to time to raise and borrow money for-the purposes of the Company.
  - k. To subscribe or guarantee money for any purpose compatible with the objectives of the Company.
  - l. To do all such other things (whether or not for gain) and to carry on any business incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above objects, or any of them, or calculated directly or indirectly to contribute to the welfare or improvement of the publishing trade in Wales.

Sefydlwyd corff newydd  
i gynrychioli cyhoeddwyf  
yng Nghymru

A new organisation  
founded to represent  
publishers in Wales

Wedi cofrestru yng Nghymru  
13229883. Swyddfa Gofrestredig,  
15 Cwrt Neptune, Ffordd Vanguard,  
Caerdydd CF24 5PJ Cymru.

Fôn: 02922 404971  
post@cyhoeddi.cymru  
www.cyhoeddi.cymru.com

Registered Wales 13229883.

Registered Office,  
15 Neptune Court, Vanguard Way,  
Cardiff CF24 5PJ Wales.

Tel: 02922 404971  
post@cyhoeddi.cymru  
www.cyhoeddi.cymru

- m. To promote the history and heritage of the publishing industry in Wales.
4. The liability of the members is limited.
  5. The income and property of the Company shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its objects as set forth in this Memorandum of Association, and no portion thereof shall be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly, by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise, to members of the Organisation. No director of the Organisation shall be appointed to any office of the Company paid by salary or fees, or receive any remuneration or other benefit in money or money's worth from the Organisation. However, nothing herein shall prevent the payment in good faith by the Organisation of reasonable and proper remuneration to any member, officer or servant of the Organisation (not being a director) for any services rendered to the Organisation, nor any reasonable and proper out-of-pocket expenses incurred by any director in connection with attendance to any matter affecting the business of the Organisation.
  6. If upon the winding up or dissolution of the Organisation there remains after the satisfaction of all of its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid or distributed among the members of the Organisation but shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having objects similar to those of the Organisation, and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least as great as that imposed on the Organisation by clause 5 hereof, such institution or institutions to be determined by the members of the Organisation at or before the time of dissolution, and if and so far as effect cannot be given to such provisions, then to some non profit-making organisation with literary objectives.

## **ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION**

### **INTERPRETATION**

1. In these Articles:

"the Act"	shall mean the Companies Act 2006 including any statutory modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.
"the Articles" or "these Articles"	shall mean the Articles of Association of the Organisation or such as are in force from time to time.
"the Organisation"	shall mean 'Cyhoeddi Cymru / Publishing Wales'
"clear days"	shall mean, in relation to the period of a notice, that period excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed to be given but including the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect.
"the Directors"	shall mean the Directors for the time being as a body or a quorum of the Directors present at a Meeting of the Directors.
"executed"	shall mean any mode of execution.
"office"	shall mean the registered office of the Organisation.
"Officer"	shall mean the employee of the Organisation or any other person appointed to perform the duties of the Officer of the Organisation.

Unless the context otherwise requires, words or expressions employed in these Articles bear the same meanings as in the Act but excluding any statutory modification thereof not in force when these Articles become binding on the Organisation.

### **OBJECTS**

2. The Organisation is established for the objects expressed in the Memorandum of Association.

### **MEMBERS**

3. The subscribers to the Memorandum of Association of the Organisation and such other persons and organisations as are admitted to membership in accordance with the Articles 7 to 10 shall be Members of the Organisation.

4. Any person who desires to be admitted to membership of the Organisation must sign or have signed on their behalf and deliver to the Organisation an application for admission framed in such terms as the Directors may require. The Directors shall have full discretion as to the admission and non-admission of any person to membership and shall not be bound to assign any reason for the non-admission of any person to such membership.

5. A member shall cease to be a member of the Organisation in any of the following circumstances:-

5.1 By giving notice in writing, lodged at the office by 1 January for the membership year which will commence on 1 January; or

5.2 If the member is demonstrated to have failed to comply with the Code of Practice for Publisher members, and a resolution to this effect is passed by the Board of Directors at a meeting convened to consider such resolution of which they shall have been given a reasonable opportunity of attending and being heard; or

5.3 If they are removed from membership by a resolution of the Members passed by four-fifths of the votes cast upon such resolution at a meeting specially convened to consider such resolution of which they shall have been given a reasonable opportunity of attending and being heard; or

5.4 If, being a firm, the estates of the firm or of any of the partners are sequestrated or the firm suspends or compounds with its creditors; or

5.5 If, being a corporation, it goes into liquidation, administration or receivership; or

5.6 failure by such Member to make payment of any sums lawfully due by such Member to the Organisation within six months of due date; or

6. A Member may not transfer their membership to any other person or organisation.

## **CATEGORIES OF MEMBERSHIP**

7. For the purposes of these articles

A PUBLISHER member means a member admitted under paragraph 8.

An ASSOCIATE member means a member admitted under paragraph 9.

8. Subject to articles 3 to 5 a PUBLISHER membership shall be open to publishers:

8.1 Headquartered in Wales

8.2 Publishing books, journals or magazines (print or digital download)

8.3 Publishing a minimum of two titles per calendar year, authored by writers who are not also the publisher (self-publishers may apply for Associate Membership)

8.4 In agreement with and to adhere to the Cyhoeddi Cymru / Publishing Wales Members Code of Conduct.

9. Subject to articles 3 to 5 ASSOCIATE membership shall be open to the following:

- 9.1 Welsh sub-offices of non-Welsh headquartered publishers.
- 9.2 Publishers headquartered outside of Wales with significant Welsh content.
- 9.3 Publishers with an exclusively online output
- 9.4 Non-publishing organisations within the publishing industry, such as: booksellers, literary agents, distributors, wholesalers, libraries, sales agencies, typesetters, printers and book festivals.
- 9.5 Individuals working within the publishing industry, such as: freelance editors, indexers, proof-readers, illustrators, designers and self-publishers.

10. No more than one individual nominated by the governing body of the organisations in PUBLISHER or ASSOCIATE categories may constitute a member of the Organisation at any given time. Each organisation may nominate one alternate member to represent them but only one representative member may attend a general meeting.

## **SUBSCRIPTIONS**

11. All Members of the Organisation shall be obliged to pay such entrance fees and annual subscriptions as may from time to time be resolved at any General Meeting. The subscription year will be from 1 January to 31 December. Members who leave the Organisation will be liable to the full subscription for the next financial year unless they give notice of this intention by 1 December.

## **GENERAL MEETINGS**

12. All general meetings other than annual general meetings shall be called extraordinary general meetings.

13. The Directors may call general meetings and, on the requisition of Members pursuant to the provisions of the Act, shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

## **NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS**

14. An annual general meeting and an extraordinary general meeting called for the passing of a special resolution or a resolution appointing a person as a Director shall be called by at least 21 clear days' notice. All other extraordinary general meetings shall be called by at least 14 clear days' notice but a general meeting may be called by shorter notice if it is so agreed:-

14.1 In the case of an annual general meeting, by all the Members entitled to attend and vote thereat;

14.2 The notice shall specify the time and place of the meeting and in the case of special business, only the general nature of the business to be transacted and, in the case of an annual general meeting, shall specify the meeting as such.

14.3 The notice shall be given to all the Members and to the Directors and auditors.

15. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of a notice of a meeting by, any person entitled to receive such notice shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.

16. Every notice convening a general meeting shall comply with the provisions of Section 325 of the Act giving information to members in regard to their right to appoint proxies.

## PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

17. No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present. A quorum shall consist of 50% of the Organisation's Publisher members.
18. If such a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, or if during a meeting such a quorum ceases to be present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day the following week at the same time and place or such other day and such other time and place as the Directors may determine, and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time appointed therefore the Members present shall be a quorum.
19. The Chair of the Cyhoeddi Cymru, or in their absence another Director nominated by the Directors, shall preside as Chair of the meeting, but if neither the Chair, nor such other Director (if any) be present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting and willing to act, the Directors present shall elect one of their number to be Chair and, if there is only one Director present and willing to act, they shall be Chair.
20. If no Director is willing to act as Chair, or if no Director is present within 10 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the Members present and entitled to vote shall choose one of their numbers to be Chair.
21. A Director shall, notwithstanding that they are not a Member, be entitled to attend and speak at any general meetings.
22. The Chair may, with the consent of a meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the meeting), adjourn business from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than business which might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place. When a meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, at least seven clear days' notice shall be given specifying the time and place of the adjourned meeting and the general nature of the business to be transacted. Otherwise it shall not be necessary to give any such notice.
23. A resolution put to the vote of a meeting shall be decided by an indicative vote unless before, or on the declaration of the result of, the indicative vote, a poll is duly demanded. Subject to the provisions of the Act, a poll may be demanded:-
- 23.1 by the Chair; or
- 23.2 by at least three Members having the right to vote at the meeting;
24. Unless a poll is duly demanded a declaration by the Chair that a resolution has been carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, or not carried by a particular majority and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting shall be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.
25. The demand for a poll may, before the poll is taken, be withdrawn but only with the consent of the Chair and a demand so withdrawn shall not be taken to have invalidated the result of an indicative vote declared before the demand was made.
26. In the case of an equality of votes, whether an indicative vote or on a poll, the Chair shall be entitled to a casting vote in addition to any other vote they may have.

27. A poll demanded on the election of a Chair or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. A poll demanded on any other question shall be taken either forthwith or at such time and place as the Chair directs not being more than 30 days after the poll is demanded. The demand for a poll shall not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which the poll was demanded. If the poll is demanded before the declaration of the result of an indicative vote and the demand is duly withdrawn, the meeting shall continue as if the demand had not been made.

28. No notice need be given of a poll not taken forthwith if the time and place at which it is to be taken are announced at the meeting at which it is demanded. In any other case at least seven clear days' notice shall be given specifying the time and place at which the poll is to be taken.

### **VOTES OF MEMBERS**

29. Every PUBLISHER member shall have one vote to elect the designated number of PUBLISHER Directors to the Board, which may be given either personally (in the case of a member which is a firm or corporation via its duly authorised representative) or (whether on an indicative vote or on a poll) in writing.

29.1 Associate members shall not be entitled to vote.

29.2 No Publisher member shall be entitled to vote at a general meeting unless their subscription for the current year has been paid and all other monies immediately payable by them to the Organisation have been paid.

30. No objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting shall be valid. Any objection made in due time shall be referred to the chairman whose decision shall be final and conclusive.

### **NUMBER OF DIRECTORS**

31. The maximum number of directors shall be 7.

#### **Elected Directors**

32. Subject to article 31, at any AGM the members may elect as a director (an "Elected Director") any individual who is a member of the Organisation, or an officer or employee of a member of the Organisation, and who has been nominated and seconded for election as a director, providing they are willing to act; in relation to such an election, the Publisher members may elect up to 5 directors.

33. The directors may at any time fill any vacancy which exists in relation to the Elected Directors by appointing as a director (an "Elected Director") any individual who has been nominated by the category of member by which the retiring director was elected, providing they are willing to act. An Elected Director appointed by the directors under the provisions of this Article shall retire from office at the next AGM, but shall then be eligible for re-appointment by the members.

#### **Co-opted Directors**

34. Subject to article 31, the directors may at any time appoint any individual to be a director (a "Co-opted Director"), providing they are willing to act, either on the basis that they bring specialist skills or networks which would be of assistance to the Board.

35. At the conclusion of a two-year term, the Co-opted Directors shall vacate office.

36. Immediately following each AGM the directors may reappoint any Co-opted Director who vacated office under the preceding Article at the conclusion of the AGM; the directors may alternatively appoint someone in their place to fill the vacancy. There shall be no limit on the number of times a Co-opted Director can be re-appointed.

#### **POWERS OF DIRECTORS**

37. Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Memorandum and the Articles and to any directions given by special resolution, the business of the Organisation shall be managed by the Directors who may exercise all the powers of the Organisation. No alteration of the Memorandum or Articles and no such direction shall invalidate any prior act of the Directors which would have been valid if that alteration had not been made or that direction had not been given. The powers given by this regulation shall not be limited by any special power given to the Directors by the Articles and a meeting of Directors at which a quorum is present may exercise all powers exercisable by the Directors.

38. The Directors may, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person to be the agent of the Organisation for such purposes and on such conditions as they determine, including authority for the agent to delegate all or any of their powers.

#### **DELEGATION OF DIRECTOR'S POWERS**

39. The Directors may delegate any of their powers to any committee consisting of one or more Directors. They may also delegate to any Executive Director or any Director holding any other executive office such of their powers as they consider desirable to be exercised by them. Any such delegation may be made subject to any condition the Directors may impose and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own powers and may be revoked or altered. Subject to any such conditions, the proceeding of a committee with two or more members shall be governed by the articles regulating the proceedings of Directors so far as they are capable of applying. The quorum of a committee with two members shall, unless otherwise specified by the Directors, be two.

#### **APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS**

40. At the first annual general meeting all the Directors shall retire from office but shall be eligible for re- election.

41. Subject to article 48 in respect of any director holding the office of Chair, at each annual general meeting, any Elected Directors who have served for a period of two years shall retire from office, but (subject to article 51) shall then be eligible for re-election for a further two years.

42. Not less than seven nor more than twenty eight clear days before the date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of any person (other than a Director retiring by rotation at the meeting) who is recommended by the Directors for appointment or reappointment as a Director at the meeting or in respect of when notice has been duly given to the Organisation of the intention to propose them at the meeting for appointment or reappointment as a Director. The notice shall give the particulars of that person which would, if they were so appointed or re-appointed, be required to be included in the Organisation's Register of Directors.

43. Subject as aforesaid, the Organisation may by ordinary resolution appoint a person who is willing to act to be a Director either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director and may also determine the rotation in which any additional Directors are to retire.

44. The Directors may appoint a person who is willing to act to be a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director, provided the appointment does not cause the number of Directors to exceed any



number fixed by or in accordance with the articles as the maximum number of Directors. A Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting. The above clause shall not apply to the Executive Director.

## **DISQUALIFICATION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS**

45. The office of a Director shall be vacated if they:

45.1 being an ex officio Director, ceases to hold the relevant office of entitlement; or

45.2 cease to be a Director by virtue of any provision of the Act or they become prohibited by law from being a Director; or

45.3 become bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with the creditors thereof generally; or

45.4 cease to be for whatever reason a member of the Organisation; or

45.5 become incapable for medical reasons of fulfilling the duties of their office and such incapacity has continued, or is expected to continue, for a period of more than six months, or

45.6 resign their office by notice to the Organisation, or

45.7 are convicted of an offence which is likely to bring the Organisation into disrepute, or

45.8 have, for more than six consecutive months, been absent without permission for the Directors from meetings of Directors held during that period and the Directors resolve that their office be vacated.

45.9 appointment is by virtue of their being an employee and representative of a Member of the Organisation and

45.9.1 ceases to be such an employee;

45.9.2 appointment as a representative of a Member of the Organisation is revoked by such member, or

45.9.3 employer or person they are representing ceases to be a Member of the Organisation

45.10 become an employee of the Organisation

45.11 fail to adhere to the Code of Practice of the organisation

## **APPOINTMENTS TO OFFICERS**

46. Directors shall be appointed to hold the offices of Chair, Vice-Chair and Treasurer, and any other offices which the directors may consider appropriate.

47. The appointments under article 46 shall be made at meetings of directors.

48. Each such office shall be held (subject to article 51) until conclusion of the annual general meeting which next follows the appointment, but a director holding such office shall then be eligible (subject to article 51 and to article 41 in the case of Vice-Chair and Treasurer) to be re-appointed to that office under article 46 (providing they are willing to act) for a further period (“the Additional Period”) of:

48.1 in the case of Vice-Chair or Treasurer, two years; and

48.2 in the case of Chair, three years and thereafter, if determined by the directors, one further year.

48.3 For the avoidance of doubt, article 41 shall not apply to any director for so long as they hold the office of Chair.

49. A director who has served as holder of any office under article 46 shall automatically vacate that office on expiry of the Additional Period referred to in article 48. They shall then not be eligible for re-appointment to that office until a further year has elapsed, except for reasons of continuity or other exceptional reason where one additional year in office may be determined by the directors under articles 46 and 47.

50. For the purposes of articles 35, 41, 48 and 49:

50.1 the period between the date of appointment of a director to any office and the annual general meeting which next follows shall be deemed to be a period of one year, unless it is of less than six months' duration (in which case it shall be disregarded).

50.2 the period between one annual general meeting and the next shall be deemed to be a period of one year.

50.3 If a director ceases to hold a particular office but is re-appointed to that office within a period of six months, they shall be deemed to have held that office continuously.

51. The appointment of any director to an office under article 46 shall terminate if they cease to be a director or if they resign from that office by notice to the Organisation.

52. If the appointment of a director to any office under article 46 terminates, the directors shall appoint another director to hold the office in their place.

## **DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES**

53. The Directors may be paid at the discretion of the Board of Directors, all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in connection with their attendance at meetings of Directors or committees of Directors or general meetings or otherwise in connection with the discharge of their duties.

## **DIRECTORS' APPOINTMENTS AND INTERESTS**

54. Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Directors may enter into an agreement or arrangement relating to the provision of any services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a Director provided that any remuneration agreed to be paid there for shall not in any way be in contravention of Clause 4.3 of the Memorandum.

55. Subject to the provisions of the Act, and provided that they have disclosed to the Directors the nature and extent of any material interest of their, a Director notwithstanding their office:

55.1 may be a party to, or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Organisation or in which the Organisation is otherwise interested provide that no Director who has a contract of service or any other type of contract with the Organisation shall be entitled to vote in any matter relating to such contract or to vote on their appointment; or

55.2 may be a Director or other officer of, or employed by, or a party to any transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any corporate body promoted by the Organisation or in which the Organisation is otherwise interested; and

55.3 shall not, by any reason of their office, be accountable to the Organisation for any benefit which they derives from any such office or employment or from any such transaction or arrangement or from any interest in any such body corporate and no such transaction or arrangements shall be liable to be avoided on the ground of any such interest or benefit.

56. For the purposes of Article 55:

56.1 a general notice given to the Directors that a Director is to be regarded as having an interest of the nature and extent specified in the notice in any transaction or arrangement in which a specified person or class of person is interested shall be deemed to be a disclosure that the Director has an interest in any such transaction of the nature and extent so specified; and

56.2 an interest of which a Director has no knowledge and of which it is unreasonable to expect them to have knowledge shall not be treated as an interest of theirs.

## **PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS**

57. Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Directors may regulate their proceedings as they think fit. A Director may, and the Officer at the request of a Director shall, call a meeting of the Directors. It shall not be necessary to give notice of a meeting to a Director who is absent from the United Kingdom. Questions arising at a meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair shall have a second or casting vote.

58. The quorum for the transaction of the business of the Directors may be fixed by the Directors and unless so fixed at any other number shall be four.

59. The continuing Directors or a sole continuing Director may act notwithstanding any vacancies in their number, but, if the number of Directors is less than the number fixed as the quorum, the continuing Directors or Director may act only for the purpose of filling vacancies or of calling a general meeting.

60. Unless they are unwilling to do so, the Chair shall preside at every meeting of Directors at which they are present. But if there is no Director holding that office, or if the Director holding it is unwilling to preside or is not present within five minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the Directors present may appoint one of their number to be Chair of the meeting.

61. All acts *bona fide* done by a meeting of Directors, or of a committee of Directors, or by a person acting as a Director shall, notwithstanding that it be afterwards discovered that there was a defect in the appointment of any Director or that any of them were disqualified from holding office, or had vacated office, or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a Director and been entitled to vote.

62. A resolution in writing signed by all the Directors entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Directors or of a committee of Directors shall be valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of Directors or (as the case may be) a committee of Directors duly convened and held and may consist of several documents in the like form each signed by one or more Directors.

63. If a question arises at a meeting of Directors or a committee of Directors as to the right of a Director to vote, the question may, before the conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the Chair of the meeting and their ruling in relation to any Director other than themselves shall be final and conclusive. If such a question arises in relation to the Chair of such a meeting the question may be decided by a majority of Directors present, the presence of the Chair not being counted in any such decision.

#### **OFFICER**

64. Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Officer shall be appointed by the Directors for such a term, at such remuneration and upon such conditions as they may think fit and any Officer so appointed may be removed by them.

#### **MINUTES**

65. The Directors shall cause minutes to be made in books kept for the purpose:

65.1 of all appointments of officers made by the Directors; and

65.2 of all proceedings at meetings of the Organisation, and of the Directors and of committees of Directors, including the names of the Directors present at each meeting.

#### **NOTICES**

66. Any notice to be given to or by any person pursuant to the Articles shall be in writing.

67. The Organisation may give any notice to a Member either personally or by sending it by post in a pre-paid envelope addressed to the Member at their registered address or by leaving it at that address. A Member whose registered address is not within Wales and who gives to the Organisation an address within the United Kingdom at which notices may be given to them shall be entitled to have notices given to them at that address, but otherwise no such Member shall be entitled to receive any notice from the Organisation.

68. A Member present, either in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the Organisation shall be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and where requisite, of the purposes for which it was called.

69. Proof that an envelope containing a notice was properly addressed, prepaid and posted shall be conclusive evidence that notice was given. A notice shall, unless the contrary is proved, be deemed to be given at the expiration of 48 hours after the envelope containing it was posted.

#### **DISSOLUTION**

70. Clause 7 of the Memorandum of Association relating to the winding up and dissolution of the Organisation shall have effect as if the provisions thereof were repeated in the Articles.

## INDEMNITY

71. Subject to the provisions of the Act but without prejudice to any indemnity to which a Director may otherwise be entitled, every Director or other officer or auditor of the Organisation shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Organisation against all losses or liabilities which they may sustain or incur in or about the execution or discharge of the duties of this office or otherwise in relations thereto including any liability incurred by them in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is given in their favour or in which they are acquitted or in connection with any application in which relief is granted to them by the Court from liability for negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the affairs of the Organisation and no Director or other officer or auditor of the Organisation shall be liable for any loss, damage or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Organisation in the execution of the duties of their office or in relation thereto.

**Articles of Association as adopted by Special Resolution on**

26 April 2022